## **Brigham Young University Law School**

# **BYU Law Digital Commons**

Utah Court of Appeals Briefs (2007-)

2018

Northern Monticello Alliance, LLC, a Utah Limited Liability Company, Plaintiff/Appellant, v. San Juan County Commission, a Political Subdivision of the State of Utah and San Juan County, a Political Subdivision of the State of Utah. Defendants/Appellees. Sustainable Power Group, LLC and Latigo Wind Park, LLC, Intervening Respondents: Brief of Appellant

**Utah Court of Appeals**

#### **JURISDICTION**

This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78A-4-103(2)(j).

#### **INTRODUCTION**

This appeal arises from an administrative land use decision originally made by the San Juan County Planning and Zoning Commission ("Planning Commission") as the "land use authority" pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 17-27a-103(29), upheld by the San Juan County Commission ("County Commission") as the "land use appeal authority" under Utah Code Ann. § 17-27a-701(1), and upheld on further appeal by the Seventh Judicial District Court in and for San Juan County, State of Utah (the "District Court").

The land use decision at issue is the September 14, 2015 decision of the Planning Commission (the "P&Z Decision") not to revoke an amended conditional use permit (the "Amended CUP") held by Sustainable Power Group, LLC ("sPower") to construct and operate a large wind turbine electric generating facility (the "Wind Facility"), comprising 27 wind turbines ("Turbines") that are approximately 453 tall – taller than any other building in the entire state of Utah – near Monticello, Utah. (R1772-73.)

Northern Monticello Alliance, LLC ("NMA") is comprised of and represents land owners ("NMA Members") who own individual parcels of 5-20 acres which total 70 acres land (the "NMA Property") that is essentially surrounded by the Wind Facility. NMA asks this Court to remand the P&Z Decision not to revoke the Amended CUP to the Planning Commission. Such remand to the Planning Commission is essential and required for three independent reasons.

First, the Planning Commission failed to "make findings of fact or conclusions of law that are adequately detailed so as to permit meaningful appellate review," as required by *McElhaney v. City of Moab*, 2017 UT 65, ¶41, \_\_ P.3d \_\_. The Planning Commission is the only body that can make findings of fact that are relevant to the legal standards governing its decision before any appeal authority or court can undertake meaningful appellate review. *See id*.

Second, at the hearing on revocation, NMA was denied any meaningful opportunity to participate and present evidence in support of revocation of the Amended CUP to the Planning Commission to protect the NMA Members' property interests. Third, the process by which the Commission upheld the P&Z Decision was illegal under the San Juan County Zoning Ordinance and the County Land Use, Development, and Management Act ("CLUDMA"), Utah Code Ann. § 17-27a-101 *et seq.*, and must be overturned.

#### ISSUES AND STANDARDS OF REVIEW

<u>Issue 1</u>: Whether the District Court erred by declining to review whether the Planning Commission's verbal land use decision was supported by substantial evidence under the standard articulated in *McElhaney v. City of Moab*, 2017 UT 65, \_\_ P.3d \_\_.

See, e.g., Hansen v. Hansen, 958 P.2d 931, 933 (Utah Ct. App. 1998); T.B. v. M.M.J. (State ex rel. R.N.J.), 908 P.2d 345, 349 (Utah Ct. App. 1995). Appellate review of a district court's determination of a question of law is reviewed for "correctness," which means that "the appellate court decides the matter for itself and does not defer in any degree to the trial judge's determination of law." State v. Pena, 869 P.2d 932, 936 (Utah 1994).

*Issue Preserved*: NMA preserved Issue 1 by timely asserting before both the County Commission and the District Court that the Planning Commission's decision was not supported by substantial evidence. (R1972; R1975; R2394-400.) NMA specifically argued to the District Court that the *McElhaney* standard for determining substantial evidence should be applied as soon as that standard was articulated by the Utah Supreme Court. (R2394-400.)

<u>Issue 2</u>: Whether the District Court erred by failing to direct the County Commission to remand consideration of revocation of the Amended CUP to the Planning Commission to conduct a plenary evidentiary hearing with instructions to allow NMA to participate and submit evidence on why the Amended CUP should be revoked, as required by the Due Process Clause of the United States and Utah Constitutions and Utah Code Ann. § 17-27a-706(2)

Standard of Review: "Due process challenges are questions of law." Augustus v. Vernal City, 2017 UT App 195, ¶ 14, 407 P.3d 1007. Appellate review of a district court's determination of a question of law is reviewed for "correctness" and no deference is given to the determination of the district court. See State v. Pena, 869 P.2d 932, 936 (Utah 1994).

*Issue Preserved:* NMA preserved Issue 2 by timely raising its arguments both before the Commission (R1972; R1975) and before the District Court, in NMA's Motion for Summary Judgment on appeal from the Commission's decision to uphold the P&Z Decision. (R2400-03.)

<u>Issue 3</u>: Whether the District Court erroneously ruled that reconsideration by the County Commission of its Final Written Decision (which remanded consideration of the

Amended CUP to the Planning Commission with instructions to allow NMA and its Members to fully participate in a hearing where revocation would be considered under a non-deferential standard of review) was legal, where no state statute or county ordinance provides for or establishes a mechanism for the County Commission, as the appeal authority, to reconsider its final and issued decisions.

Standard of Review: Whether a land use decision is illegal is a question of law. Outfront Media, LLC v. Salt Lake City Corp., 2017 UT 74, ¶ 12, 416 P.3d 389. Appellate review of a district court's determination of a question of law is reviewed for "correctness" and no deference is given to the determination of the district court. See State v. Pena, 869 P.2d 932, 936 (Utah 1994).

*Issue Preserved:* NMA preserved Issue 3 by timely raising its arguments both before the County Commission during NMA's appeal of the original land use decision (R1972; R1975) and before the District Court in NMA's Motion for Summary Judgment on appeal from the County Commission's decision to uphold the land use decision. (R2403-06.)

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Issuance of the Amended CUP

On June 29, 2012, Wasatch Wind Intermountain, through its subsidiary Latigo Wind Park, LLC ("Wasatch Wind/Latigo"), filed an application for a conditional use permit to construct the Wind Facility in an A-zone of San Juan County (the "County") near Monticello, Utah. (R0875). The Wind Facility surrounds the NMA Property, which is sometimes referred to as "inholding parcels." (R0492, R0922.) Prior to the proposal to build the Wind Facility, the NMA Members purchased the NMA Property to build cabins with views of the mountains on large (5-20 acre) lots. (R0888.)

On July 5, 2012, the Planning Commission held a hearing and approved a conditional use permit (the "July CUP") to operate the Wind Facility. (R1336.) NMA Members never received notice of the hearing and subsequently learned that the Planning Commission had approved the July CUP. (R0951, R0959-60.) NMA timely filed a written complaint, objecting to approval of the July CUP. (R1921.) In response to the written objection, the Planning Commission held another hearing on the July CUP on October 4, 2012. (R0919–1005; R1336.)

At the October 4, 2012 Public Hearing, the Planning Commission issued the oral Amended CUP, which superseded the July CUP. (R1952.) The Amended CUP included mitigation conditions, which must be found in the minutes and transcript of the October 4, 2012 Public Hearing (the "October 4, 2012 Transcript"). (R0998, R1952.) The October 4, 2012 Transcript (R0919-1005) is attached for convenience as Addendum G.

However, there is no document setting forth the terms of the Amended CUP or the mitigation conditions proposed and agreed to by the applicant, Wasatch Wind/Latigo, or imposed by the Planning Commission.

Among the conditions proposed by Wasatch Wind/Latigo and accepted by the Planning Commission at the Public Hearing was the condition that, if a purchase agreement could be reached, Wasatch Wind/Latigo would purchase the inholding NMA Property. (R0963-64.) If no agreement could be reached, then specific mitigation steps for Sound, Light and Flicker would be taken as to the NMA Property. (*Id.*)

In accordance with the purchase condition of the Amended CUP, on or about February 12, 2013, NMA Members and Wasatch Wind/Latigo entered into a written Option to Purchase Real Property ("Purchase Option"), which required Wasatch Wind/Latigo to purchase the NMA Property "prior to commencing any significant construction activities of any wind farm project on parcels adjacent to the [NMA] Property." The Purchase Option is attached for convenience as Addendum H. (R0619-0643.) San Juan County Zoning Ordinance 6-9 provides that conditional use permits expire within a year after issuance "[u]nless there is substantial action" on the permit. The County may allow one extension of up to six months when in the public interest. Id. The term of the Purchase Option was for two years in order to allow Wasatch Wind/Latigo to move forward in developing the Wind Facility within the 18-month window provided by ordinance. Had Wasatch Wind/Latigo been unable timely to comply with the Amended CUP, it could decline to exercise the Option and would not be "stuck" with the NMA Property.

A specific condition and requirement of the Purchase Option was that NMA would withdraw its then pending appeal of the approval of the Amended CUP to the County Commission, acting as the Land Use Appeal Authority. (R0621-22.)

In reliance upon the Purchase Option, NMA withdrew its appeal of the Amended CUP to the County Commission and the Amended CUP became final and not subject to any further appeal or review. (R0621, R2087-88.) The Purchase Option did not require Wasatch Wind/Latigo to purchase the NMA Property if the construction of the Wind Facility did not go forward. (R0620, R2088-89.) However, Wasatch Wind/Latigo subsequently did commence significant construction activities to avoid expiration of the Amended CUP prior to obtaining a building permit on February 3, 2014. (R2071.) Nevertheless, Wasatch Wind/Latigo failed to exercise the Purchase Option and never purchased the NMA Property. (R2088.)

In or about January of 2015, Wasatch Wind/Latigo assigned their interest in the Wind Project to Sustainable Power Group, LLC ("sPower"). (R1993-94.) sPower, as successor in interest to Wasatch Wind/Latigo, assumed all benefits and liabilities of Wasatch Wind/Latigo, including the obligation to comply with all mitigation requirements of the Amended CUP and to purchase the NMA Property pursuant to the Purchase Option. sPower also failed and refused to exercise the Purchase Option prior to its expiration on February 13, 2015.

## B. Proceedings to Revoke Amended CUP

After the County received complaints that sPower had failed to comply with the Amended CUP conditions, including the requirement to purchase the NMA Property, the

Planning Commission held a public hearing on September 9, 2015, to determine whether the Amended CUP should be revoked pursuant to San Juan County Zoning Ordinance 6-10 for failure to comply with the conditions upon which the Amended CUP was issued. (R0174-75.) Surprisingly, at the hearing the Planning Commission muzzled NMA by precluding NMA and NMA Members from presenting any evidence or argument regarding sPower's violations of the conditions of the Amended CUP in support of revocation. (R1971-72.) Among the evidence that NMA was barred from presenting to the Planning Commission in support of revocation of the Amended CUP was the failure of sPower to fulfill either the purchase requirement or alternative mitigation requirements of the Amended CUP. (R1772-1967.)

After hearing sPower's presentation, and after prohibiting NMA Members from participating in the hearing, the Planning Commission decided to postpone its determination on revocation pending review of "other pertinent information." (R0721-22.) At a public meeting on September 14, 2015, the Planning Commission issued an oral ruling that sPower had complied with the conditions of the Amended CUP. (R0724.) Once again, NMA was prohibited from speaking or submitting any evidence to the Planning Commission. In fact, the Chair of the Planning Commission seized materials NMA tried to present to the Planning Commission. (R0190.)

The Planning Commission failed to issue any written findings of fact or conclusions of law and voted not to withdraw the Amended CUP on a roll call vote. (R0724). The Planning Commission failed to identify what "other" information, if any, it reviewed between September 9, 2015, and September 14, 2015. (R0724.) In fact, the Planning

Commission failed to make any a record of the evidence it considered in reaching the P&Z Decision. (R0724.)

### C. Appeal of Decision Not to Revoke Amended CUP

NMA timely appealed the decision of the Planning Commission to the County Commission, sitting as the land use appeal authority, on October 13, 2015, and the parties filed written submissions on November 5, 2015. (R1772–1968.) Pursuant to San Juan County's ordinances, the County Commission reviewed the Planning Commission's decision only on a deferential arbitrary and capricious standard, to determine if the Planning Commission's decision was supported by substantial evidence. (R0177.) sPower's November 5, 2015 submission failed to indicate what evidence it had actually presented to the Planning Commission prior to the Planning Commission's September 14, 2015 decision. (R1319-34.)

In fact, sPower improperly submitted new evidence that it later admitted was not presented to the Planning Commission prior to, or at, the hearing on September 14, 2015. The County Commission accepted the new evidence that was never before the Planning Commission. (*Compare* documents sPower contends were submitted to the Planning Commission prior to its September 14, 2015, revocation hearing *with* evidence sPower presented to the County Commission on appeal, set forth in **Addendum I**.)

The submission of new evidence to the County Commission violated Utah Code Ann § 17-27a-707, which only allows a deferential review by a land use appeal authority if the appeal is heard on the record. In other words, if submission of new evidence to the

land use appeal authority is allowed, the standard of review is *de novo*, without deference to the land use authority. Utah Code Ann. § 17-27a-707(2).

# D. Reconsideration of Remand to the Planning Commission

After hearing presentations from both NMA and sPower on November 10, 2015, the County Commission issued its Written Decision on December 2, 2015 ("Final Written Decision"), reversing the P&Z Decision and remanding to the Planning Commission the issue of whether sPower had met all of the mitigation conditions of the Amended CUP, including the requirement to purchase NMA Property. (R0173–85.) The County Commission also directed the Planning Commission to receive evidence from NMA. (R0180.)

Although nothing in either Utah state law or San Juan County ordinances provides for reconsideration by the County Commission, on December 3, 2015, sPower's counsel sent an *ex parte* communication to the County Commission (the "**Request for Reconsideration**"), demanding that the County Commission immediately reconsider and amend its Final Written Decision and implicitly threatening a \$100 million damages lawsuit if the County Commission did not immediately reverse its Final Written Decision and acquiesce to sPower's demands. (R0168–72.)<sup>1</sup>

sPower's Request for Reconsideration did not specifically identify any actual evidence considered by the Planning Commission to determine that sPower complied with

10

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In essence sPower, through its legal counsel, threatened to sue the County for \$100 million simply for remanding the issue of revocation to the Planning Commission for a full and fair hearing. The County Commission did not revoke the Amended CUP.

the Amended CUP. (R0168–72.) Instead, sPower referenced specific materials provided to the Planning Commission on September 23, 2015, *after* the September 14, 2015 P&Z Decision. (R0170-71.) NMA Members were never afforded the opportunity to refute these materials, which were never properly before either the Planning Commission or the County Commission, or to provide rebuttal evidence before either the Planning Commission or the County Commission. (R1977.)

Neither CLUDMA nor San Juan County Ordinances provide for rehearing or reconsideration or provide any sort of mechanism for rehearing or reconsideration. Nevertheless, in a closed executive session on December 7, 2015, the County Commission reconsidered its Final Written Decision in light of sPower's \$100 million threat. (R0145.) On December 8, 2015, the County Commission issued an *Amendment to Written Decision* ("Amended Decision"), whereby it abruptly reversed itself and, rather than remanding the issue to the Planning Commission for a fair hearing, upheld the Planning Commission's decision in its entirety. (R0144–49.)

Commissioner Phil Lyman issued a stinging Dissent (R0157-66), noting, among other things, that the County Commission did not know what evidence had been presented to the Planning Commission prior to September 14, 2015 P&Z Decision. (*See* R0161-62.)<sup>2</sup> He also observed that sPower had failed to fulfill the financial mitigation requirements of the Amended CUP prior to issuance of a building permit, that sPower's counsel, Sean

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Commissioner Lyman's uncertainty is understandable. Sean McBride said the Planning Commission had six documents in front of it. However, sPower presented 32 documents to the County Commission on appeal. *See* Addendum I.

McBride, "falsely" claimed that payment to NMA Members under the Purchase Option represented the actual full value of the properties, that sPower's assertion that "The NMA property owners have been paid full value for their properties under the mitigation agreement" is "absurd," and that sPower's assertion "that it provided mitigation through compensation to NMA land owners, is completely false." (R0162-64.) Commissioner Lyman concluded that the decision of the County Commission to reconvene and to reverse the Final Written Order was "misguided and capricious" and that the matter should have been remanded to the Planning Commission. (R0163, R0165.) The Dissent ("Lyman Dissent"), (R0157-67), is attached for convenience as Addendum J.

## E. First Appeal to District Court.

NMA timely appealed the Amended Decision to the District Court, arguing that the County Commission's unauthorized reconsideration was arbitrary, capricious, and illegal. (R2743-46.) The District Court heard arguments on NMA's motion for Summary Judgment and issued its *Memorandum of Decision on the August 30, 2016 Hearing* on September 9, 2016 ("**Initial District Court Decision**"). (R2738-46.)

The District Court stated that it could not find that the County Commission's decision was unsupported by substantial evidence (R2743); however, the District Court did find that the County Commission's decision to reconsider the Final Written Decision in a closed meeting without notice to NMA Members was illegal because it denied NMA Members the opportunity to present evidence and be heard on the Request for Reconsideration, in violation of NMA Members' due process rights. (R2744-45.)

NMA's counsel prepared a proposed order vacating the Amended Decision and remanding the matter to the Planning Commission - the only body that had the power to determine if the Amended CUP should be revoked utilizing a non-deferential standard of review - for renewed proceedings on revocation of the Amended CUP in which NMA could, for the first time, actually participate. (R0091-92.) However, the District Court declined to enter the order remanding the matter to the Planning Commission and instead entered an order vacating the Amended Decision and remanding the matter to the County Commission solely for the purpose of allowing NMA to belatedly argue against reconsideration that has already been granted under threat of a \$100 million damage claim. (R0096, R2744-45.)

Understanding that the Initial District Court Decision in actuality did not, and likely would not, provide NMA with any real relief, *i.e.*, an evidentiary hearing before the Planning Commission, NMA appealed to this Court. (R2748-49) However, the Court, on its own motion, summarily dismissed NMA's appeal, determining that, despite the fact that NMA had only prevailed on a single limited issue that would not likely lead to the actual relief sought by NMA – the ability to introduce evidence and participate fully in a revocation hearing on the Amended CUP before the Planning Commission – NMA had "received what [it] asked for" because the Amended Decision had been vacated. (R2748.)

#### F. Remand to County Commission

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