2018

**Northern Monticello Alliance, LLC, Petitioner and Appellant, v. San Juan County Commission Et Al., Respondents and Appellees :  
Brief of Appellee**

Utah Court of Appeals

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

- C. NMA's substantial evidence analysis is unrelated to whether the planning commission's report was adequate under *McElhaney*, but, even if it were related, the district court correctly affirmed the county commission's decision.

For some reason, NMA tucks a lengthy substantial evidence analysis into its argument on the *McElhaney* issue it raises on appeal. Whether the district court's holding is supported by substantial evidence is unrelated to whether the *McElhaney* opinion required the planning commission to provide the county commission with more detailed and extensive findings (NMA's "Issue 1"). Even if it were, NMA's reliance on the whole-record test in an attempt to weaken the substantial evidence test is misplaced, since, even if the test applies, NMA hasn't performed the required marshaling. The district court's holding that sPower is complying with the permit's conditions is, moreover, supported by substantial evidence.

//

//

1. NMA doesn't raise a substantial evidence challenge on appeal, and its analysis is therefore irrelevant.

Although NMA doesn't raise a substantial evidence challenge on appeal, it dedicates a substantial number of pages to arguing that the district court's—or at times that the county commission's, or the planning commission's—decision didn't satisfy that standard when finding that sPower was complying with its permit's conditions. Those arguments are, however, irrelevant to the issues NMA has raised on appeal and should be disregarded.

NMA raises three issues on appeal, none of which directly challenge the district court's substantial evidence determination. The closest is NMA's first issue, asking the Court to decide whether the district court erred when it supposedly refused to review whether the planning commission's decision was supported by substantial evidence in light of the *McElhaney* opinion. (NMA's Br. at 2.) (The district court's conclusion that it saw no need to reconsider its decision in *NMA 1*, despite NMA's *McElhaney* argument, implies that the district court simply found the argument unpersuasive.) The other two issues are further afield: whether due process required the district court to remand the revocation decision back to the planning commission to allow NMA to participate (second issue), and whether the county commission could reconsider its initial decision (third issue). (NMA Br. at 3-4.)

While NMA's first issue at least contains the phrase *substantial evidence*, it instead focuses on NMA's distinct argument that the planning commission's report to the county

commission on its decision was inadequate to allow review under *McElhaney*, not a separate challenge to the district court's holding that the county commission's decision was supported by substantial evidence. The issues are distinct, and NMA raised only the former (whether the planning commission's report was adequate to allow the county commission's review). NMA's lengthy substantial evidence review is therefore irrelevant and should be disregarded.

2. NMA's reliance on the whole-record test, assuming it even applies here, fails because NMA hasn't marshaled the evidence supporting the district court's decision.

NMA's reliance on UAPA's statutory whole-record test is misplaced. Assuming the test even applies in this context, NMA fails to marshal the evidence supporting the district court's decision. Nor does NMA provide more than a reasonably conflicting view, which is resolved in the County's favor.

A county appeal authority's decision is presumed valid, and reviewed only to determine, based on the record, whether it is arbitrary, capricious, or illegal. Utah Code § 17-27a-801(3)(a) & (8)(a). The decision at issue here—a county planning commission's decision not to revoke a conditional use permit—is an administrative decision reviewed under the substantial evidence standard. Utah Code § 17-27a-801(3)(b) & (c); *Salon Tropicana Midvale, Inc. v. Midvale City*, Case No. 20090057-CA, 2009 UT App 327, \*6-\*8, 2009 Utah App. LEXIS 345 (Nov. 13, 2009) (Mem. Dec.) (unpublished) (reviewing

city appeal authority's decision upholding its planning commission's decision to revoke a conditional use permit under the substantial evidence standard).

“‘Substantial evidence is that quantum and quality of relevant evidence that is adequate to convince a reasonable mind to support a conclusion.’” *Patterson*, 893 P.2d at 604 n. 6 (quoting *First Nat’l Bank of Boston v. County Bd. of Equalization*, 799 P.2d 1163, 1165 (Utah 1990) (quotation marks omitted).) “It is ‘more than a mere scintilla of evidence . . . though something less than the weight of the evidence.’” *Id.* (quoting *Grace Drilling Co. v. Board of Review*, 776 P.2d 63, 68 (Utah Ct. App. 1989) (quotation marks and citation omitted)).

NMA charges, based on no evidence whatever, that the district court violated this standard because it “made no effort to consider evidence that ‘fairly detracted’ from sPower’s position, in contravention of Utah’s substantial evidence standard.” (NMA’s Br. at 22.) NMA relies on *Grace Drilling* for this characterization, which arises from what this Court termed the *whole record test*. Under that test, a reviewing court “must consider not only the evidence supporting the [adjudicative body’s] factual findings, but also the evidence that fairly detracts from the weight of the [adjudicative body’s] evidence.” *Grace Drilling*, 776 P.2d at 68 (cleaned up). That test is, however, specific to UAPA, and even if it weren’t, NMA hasn’t marshaled the evidence supporting the district court’s decision sufficient to allow this Court’s review.

The *whole record test* is explicitly mandated by UAPA, which allows as one of several express bases for an appellate court to grant the petitioner relief that “the agency action is based upon a determination of fact, made or implied by the agency, that is not supported by substantial evidence when viewed in light of the whole record before the court.” Utah Code § 63G-4-403(4)(g); *Grace Drilling*, 776 P.2d at 66. (At the time *Grace Drilling* was decided, this language, which remains unchanged, was found in Utah Code § 63-46b-16(4)(g) (1988).) It appears to be a distinct test from the substantial evidence test, because the Court differentiates them within the space of two sentences in the opinion. *Grace Drilling*, 776 P.2d at 68. Because a phrase similar to “when viewed in light of the whole record before the court” doesn’t appear in CLUDMA’s judicial review provision, Utah Code § 17-27a-801, the test doesn’t translate to reviews of land use decisions.

Even if the whole record test did apply to substantial evidence reviews of county land use decisions, NMA couldn’t rely on it here because it hasn’t marshaled all the evidence supporting the district court’s decision. The test “necessarily requires that a party challenging the [adjudicative body’s] findings of fact must *marshall* all of the evidence supporting the findings and show that despite the supporting facts, and in light of the conflicting or contradictory evidence, the findings are not supported by substantial evidence.” *Grace Drilling*, 776 P.2d at 68 (emphasis original). While NMA mentions some of the evidence that supports the district court’s decision, it falls far short of marshaling all the supporting evidence in the record.



“To satisfy its marshaling burden, the [challenger] need[s] to marshal all of the evidence supporting the Board’s findings, not simply the evidence supporting its preferred interpretation.” *Uintah County v. Dep’t of Workforce Servs.*, 2014 UT App 44, ¶ 7, 320 P.3d 1103 (cleaned up). “When a party challenging a factual finding fails to marshal the evidence in support of that finding, we assume that the record supports the finding.” *Id.* (cleaned up).

While NMA identifies what it believes the county commission failed to consider (albeit without support)—its 5 November 2015 memorandum and attached documents (NMA’s Br. at 22-23)—it falls short marshaling the evidence supporting the county commission’s findings. NMA appears to argue in its defense that it’s difficult to determine what the county commission or the district court relied on (NMA Br. at 21-22; NMA Suppl. at 7-8), even suggesting that the district court might not even have reviewed the record (NMA Suppl. at 8). But just because the record contains a lot of evidence that supports the adjudicative body’s findings doesn’t excuse the challenger from marshaling them. And in reality it shouldn’t be that difficult here, where the county commission set out its findings in its decisions, and the County and sPower set out their arguments in their memoranda that the district court implicitly adopted. Because NMA fails to carry its burden, its argument that the county commission’s and the district court’s decisions weren’t supported by substantial evidence fail, even under the whole record test.

NMA presents, at most, a conflicting view of the evidence in support of its position. But, when undertaking a substantial evidence review, a court “will not substitute its judgment as between two reasonably conflicting views, even though [it] may have come to a different conclusion had the case come before it for de novo review.” Grace Drilling, 776 P.2d at 68. Because NMA fails to marshal all of the evidence opposing its own position, and then show that the district court’s conflicting view of the evidence is unreasonable, its substantial evidence challenge fails. “It is,” after all, “the province of the [adjudicative body], not appellate courts, to resolve conflicting evidence, and where inconsistent inferences can be drawn from the same evidence, it is for the [adjudicative body] to draw the inferences.” Id.

Though NMA doesn’t raise it as an express issue, throughout its brief it argues that the record is unreliable because it contains materials submitted to the county commission that weren’t before the planning commission when it made its decision, particularly a 23 September 2015 letter from sPower, to which was attached several documents showing sPower’s compliance with the permit’s conditions. (NMA’s Br. at 5-8, 21-22; NMA’s Suppl. at 3, 5-6.) But NMA waived this objection to evidence in the record long ago, and, even if it could still object, the same or substantially similar materials appear elsewhere in the record.

“To preserve an issue for appeal, a party claiming error in the admission of evidence must object on the record in a timely fashion. One who fails to make a necessary objection

or who fails to insure that it is on the record is deemed to have waived the issue.” *Roundy*, 1999 UT App 229, ¶ 24. NMA failed to timely object to the materials it now claims shouldn’t be in the record.

CLUDMA provides that, “[i]f there is a record, the district court’s review is limited to the record provided by the land use authority or appeal authority, as the case may be.” The district court is prohibited from “accept[ing] or consider[ing] any evidence outside the record of the land use authority or appeal authority, as the case may be, unless that evidence was offered to the land use authority or appeal authority, respectively, and the court determines that it was improperly excluded.” “If there is no record, the court may call witnesses and take evidence.” Utah Code § 17-27a-801(8). CLUDMA requires appeal authorities to transmit the record to the reviewing court. Utah Code § 17-27a-801(7)(a).

The County transmitted the record before the county commission to the district court on 19 May 2016. (*NMA I*, Index at 1.) NMA has never formally objected to its contents. In fact, it appears that the first time NMA even noted any concern that the record was inaccurate wasn’t until 18 October 2017, when it alleged that there was no evidence that the planning commission considered the flicker, light, and sound studies attached to a September 23 letter from sPower. (NMA2R.2391.)

The letter, which was sent to the county attorney, not the county building department, merely summarizes evidence sPower provided to the planning commission (NMA2R.1748-55, 2103-04, 2581), which probably explains NMA’s delay in commenting

on it. Once NMA suggested the material might not have been considered by the planning commission, the County switched the citations supporting its argument that sPower presented evidence it was meeting its permit's conditions to other parts of the record. (NMA2R.2774-75.) Even supposing NMA's comments about the September 23 letter were read as an objection, the County referenced other evidence that still showed sPower met the permit's conditions.

In its brief on appeal, NMA has moved beyond questioning the September 23 letter, going so far as creating, for the first time, a list of all the documents it now contends weren't part of the record before the planning commission. (NMA's Br. at 9-10 & Add. I.) NMA argues that the inclusion of that evidence violated Utah Code § 17-27a-707, which implicitly limited the county commission's review to the record because the County had by ordinance designated a scope of review. (*Id.*) See SJCZO § 2-2(2)(e) (establishing an arbitrary-and-capricious standard of review). NMA's argument, however, comes too late.

As the Court explained in *Roundy*, objections to evidence must be made “in a timely fashion” or they are waived. *Roundy*, 1999 UT App 229, ¶ 24. NMA's objections to the record here—if they can be considered objections—are untimely and have been waived. The record of the county commission's decision was transmitted to the district court in May 2016 in *NMA 1*. NMA first noted concern about the record in October 2017 in *NMA 2*, which consisted of alleging that there was nothing in the record demonstrating that the planning commission had considered the studies attached to the September 23 letter.

Between those dates, the district court rendered its decision in *NMA 1*, holding that substantial evidence supported the county commission’s decision (NMA1R.3163), the county commission received briefs and heard argument on sPower’s request to reconsider and issued a decision (NMA2R.1970-81), and NMA petitioned for review a second time (NMA2R.0001-0035). And NMA didn’t raise its objections beyond sPower’s September 23 letter until its opening brief on this appeal. Because an objection to evidence raised after a decision has been rendered is untimely, *see, e.g., 438 Main Street v. Easy Heat, Inc.*, 2004 UT 72, ¶ 51, 99 P.3d 801 (“In order to preserve an issue for appeal, the issue must be presented to the trial court in such a way that the trial court has an opportunity to rule on that issue.” (cleaned up)), NMA has waived its objections to the record.<sup>7</sup>

3. Finally, even if NMA had raised the district court’s substantial evidence decision as an issue here, the court correctly affirmed the county commission’s decision.

The permit’s only conditions relevant here deal with flicker, light, and sound. The county required Wasatch Wind to provide as much mitigation of these impacts as possible. In its briefing in *NMA 1*, the County argued that meant as much mitigation as can be required by industry standards (NMA1R.3141-43), and the district court implicitly agreed. NMA has not challenged that holding. Until now, NMA has argued that the other

---

<sup>7</sup> This same analysis applies to NMA’s objection to Sean McBride’s 22 December 2016 declaration (NMA’s Br. at 19, n. 5) (although there’s no indication the County relied on it—the opposite, in fact (NMA2R.1977)). NMA failed to object to the declaration before the county commission and the district court before raising the issue here. It has therefore waived its objection.

conditions it contends apply to sPower's permit (e.g., financial mitigation, dark sky technology, ice throw) were "self-imposed" conditions adopted by Wasatch Wind and enforceable against sPower, even though not formally adopted by the County.

On this appeal, however, NMA argues that the permit's conditions actually include a financial mitigation requirement, although perhaps the planning commission failed "to clearly enunciate" it.<sup>8</sup> (NMA's Br. at 26.) NMA asserts that the condition "reiterating that all and any new land purchase lease deals be in writing for any contiguous and affected landowners" adopts Wasatch Wind's assertion at the October 2012 hearing that it would either buy or make financial mitigation payments to NMA's members. (NMA's Br. at 24, 27-28.) This argument is both waived and unsupported.

Because NMA didn't raise this argument—that the requirement that new land purchase or lease deals be in writing is really the financial mitigation condition in disguise—until now, it's been waived. "Issues not raised before the district court are normally waived and cannot be raised for the first time on appeal." *Gardner v. Bd. of County Comm'rs*, 2008 UT 6, ¶ 32, 178 P.3d 893. The Court therefore need not address it.

Even were the Court to address this argument, it fails because it seeks to expand the permit's application beyond its plain language. The condition is plainly limited to "new

---

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